
Listing of Mailout Material 
November 18, 2020 

Forwarding Letter 
Meeting Agenda 

I. Review and approve minutes of the meeting of October 21, 2020
Minutes of October 21, 2020 

II. St. Olaf College
College Presentation to be sent separately prior to the meeting 
Application Review – North Slope Capital Advisors 
Application Memorandum - Fryberger 
Resolution Relating to Application - Fryberger 

III. Old Business
“Enrollment Surges at Concordia St. Paul for Ninth Consecutive Fall Semester” 

IV. New Business
FY2020 Annual Report to be distributed separately prior to meeting. Annual Report will also be 
available on the Authority website by meeting day. 

V. Other Business
Executive Director Report Memo 
Dr. Michael Francis ‘Sully’ Sullivan Obituary – Star Tribune 
“Please Remember in Your Prayers Professor Emeritus Michael Sullivan” – University 
of St. Thomas 
October 2020 Budget vs Actual 

Now included in packet

Available at mnhefa.org/annual-reports



MEMORANDUM   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
Date:  12 November 2020 
 
To:  Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority Board Members 
 
From:  Barry W. Fick, Executive Director 
 
Subject: November 2020 Authority Board Meeting Preview 
 
Greetings to the Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority November 18, 2020 video and 
teleconference Board meeting. The focus of the November 2020 Board meeting will be the Public Hearing 
for St. Olaf College.  
 
We will be using a new video link system for this meeting. It is a component of our upgraded communications 
system, which includes phones, conference calling, fax, and video, all integrated into a system that is 
accessible from anywhere.  
 
We will have an update on the Municipal Advisor Request for Qualifications / Request for Proposal process. 
Responses are scheduled to be received on November 17, 2020.  The selection process continues on track for 
completion by the end of December 2020. 
 
The Authority Annual Report will be completed prior to the Authority November 18, 2020 meeting. It will be 
sent to you in electronic form next week prior to the Board meeting. 
 
We continue to work from home according to Executive Order issued by the Governor and endorsed by 
MMB, with occasional visits to the office. 
 
We look forward to your participation by video conferencing or telephone for the meeting. 
 

380 JACKSON STREET, SUITE 450, ST. PAUL, MN  55101 

Main Phone: 651.296.4690       Fax: 651.297.5751 



Meeting to be conducted via video conference – Board Members will receive a link to join the meeting 

General Public may attend via call-in number:  1-877-978-6969   Access Code: 109-3463#   

MHEFA, 380 Jackson Street, Suite 450, Saint Paul, MN  55101.  Telephone: 651-296-4690 

 

Board Meeting Agenda 
 
 

 
Wednesday, November 18, 2020 

2:00 PM 
Meeting to be held via electronic means due to pandemic emergency social distancing.  

 The public should utilize the call-in information provided below.  
Individuals may request reasonable accommodation or modifications in order to participate in Authority 

programs by contacting the Authority at least 48 hours in advance of the event. 

 
I. Review and approve minutes of the meeting of October 21, 2020 

II. St. Olaf College 

 Conduct Public Hearing 
 Application Review - North Slope Capital Advisors 
 Application Memorandum by Bond Counsel – Fryberger 
 Resolution Relating to Application - Fryberger 

III. Old Business 

 Update on status of Municipal Advisor RFP 
 College/University Enrollment Update 
 Legislative Expansion in 2021 Session 

IV. New Business 

 FY2020 Annual Report 

V. Other Business 

 Executive Director’s Report 

 
 



 

The Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority (the “Authority” or “MHEFA”) convened a 
regular Board meeting at 2:00 PM CDT, Wednesday, October 21, 2020, in the Authority’s 
Conference Room, 380 Jackson Street, Suite 450, Saint Paul, Minnesota.  
 
Following Emergency Executive Order 20-01, dated March 13, 2020, Declaration of Peacetime 
Emergency by Governor Walz; Emergency Executive Order 20-20, dated March 25, 2020; and 
Emergency Executive Order 20-33, dated April 8, 2020 (the foregoing and other Emergency 
Executive Orders of the Governor relating to COVID-19, as may be amended or superseded, 
collectively, the “Emergency Orders”), members of the Authority participated in and attend the 
meeting by telephone or other electronic means in accordance with Minnesota Statutes, Section 
13D.021.  

Authority Chair Ranum determined that an in-person meeting at the regular meeting location for 
the Authority, 380 Jackson Street, Suite 450, Saint Paul, Minnesota 55101, was not practical or 
prudent because of the health pandemic declared under the Emergency Orders and according to 
current guidance from the Minnesota Department of Health, the Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention, and the U.S. Department of Homeland Security.  

The chief administrative officer of the Authority, Executive Director Barry W. Fick, was physically 
present at the Authority’s offices, 380 Jackson Street, Suite 450, Saint Paul, Minnesota 55101.   

Members of the public who plan to be present at the public hearing at the Authority’s offices in 
person will be required to observe social distancing and comply with other measures imposed by the 
Emergency Orders. 

The public were able to monitor the meeting by calling 312-626-6799 Meeting ID: 849 4958 9532 
Passcode: 210892 
 
Board members participated in the meeting using a Zoom video link. The meeting link was sent to 
Board members prior to the meeting. The use of Zoom as an allowable way to hold the Board 
meeting was confirmed by the State of Minnesota’s Data Practices Office staff prior to the meeting, 
following Minnesota Statute 13D.021. 
 
  



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 2 
 
 

Executive Summary – Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Meeting on October 21, 2020 

Board Actions Taken: 

Motions: Result: Vote: 
Approval of Meeting Minutes of September 16, 2020 Passed Unanimous 
Acceptance and Approval of FYE June 30, 2020 Audited 
Financial Statements 

Passed Unanimous 

 

Resolutions Result: Vote: 
None Considered   
   

 
The official meeting began with a roll call to determine who was attending the meeting. The following 
board members or their designees were participating and attending by Zoom link or telephone: 
 
Board Members: Gary Benson 
   Mary Ives 

Michael Ranum 
Bonnie Anderson Rons 
David Rowland 
Nancy Sampair 
Poawit Yang 
Stacey Holland, Minnesota Private College Council, ex officio without vote 

 
Absent:  Mark Misukanis 

Ray Vin Zant 
    
 
Other Attendees: Matt Mayer, Partner BerganKDV 
   Mark LeMay, Consultant 
 
Also Present:  Barry W. Fick (in-person) Executive Director MHEFA 

Amanda Lee, Operations Manager, MHEFA 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 3 
 
 

All participants except Executive Director Fick attended the meeting by Zoom video link or 
telephone. 
 
Mike Ranum, Chair, called the meeting order at 2:00 pm CDT. Executive Director Fick confirmed 
that a quorum was present. 
 
 
Agenda Item I – Minutes of the September 16, 2020 Board meeting. 
 
The first item on the Agenda is the review and consideration of the minutes of the September 16, 
2020 Authority Board meeting. A motion was made by Bonnie Anderson Rons to approve the 
September 16, 2020 minutes. The motion was seconded by Nancy Sampair. Chair Ranum asked if 
there were any questions, discussion, or changes to the minutes of the September 16, 2020 Board 
meeting.   
 
There were no questions or proposed changes to the minutes from the Board members. 
 
Chair Ranum called for a Roll Call vote regarding the approval of the minutes. A Roll Call vote was 
conducted, and the Board members voted as follows:  
 
Board Members: Gary Benson   Yes 
   Mary Ives   Yes 

Michael Ranum  Yes 
Bonnie Anderson Rons  Yes 
David Rowland   Yes 
Nancy Sampair   Yes 
Poawit Yang   Yes 
 

There were no votes against the motion and the Minutes of the September 16, 2020 Authority 
Board meeting were approved. 
 
 
Agenda Item II – Audit of Authority Fiscal Year 2020 Financial Statements  
 
Chair Ranum called on Matt Mayer, Partner with BerganKDV to discuss the audit of the Fiscal Year 
2020 Financial Statements of the Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority. Bergan KDV 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 4 
 
 

has audited the Authority Financial Statements for the past few years. Due to the COVID-19 
Pandemic and State of MN restrictions, BerganKDV conducted the Audit for FY2020 on a remote 
basis. This process was made easier by the availability of electronic records kept by the Authority. 
The logistics of the audit were made by secure transfer of files to a specific website that was 
accessible only by BerganKDV staff. Mr. Mayer began his presentation by complimenting the 
Authority for the completeness of recordkeeping and the responsiveness of the Authority to 
BerganKDV inquiries. Mr. Mayer directed the attention to the Audited Financial Statements. He 
proceeded to describe the Authority’s financial position shown on the balance sheet and the 
Statement of Operations. Mr. Mayer noted that Revenue for fiscal year 2020 was lower than the 
prior year due to the outstanding par amount of bonds outstanding decreasing. Non-cash pension 
obligations can affect the payroll number, so Mr. Mayer noted that payroll did not increase $75k, but 
rather, the Authority’s share of the State of Minnesota Pension obligation change for FY2020 is 
reflected in the $75K.  
 
The increase in general expenses is due to the one-time special project of redesigning the Authority’s 
website. The increase in Legal expenses is due to the expansion effort expenses. The costs associated 
with the expansion effort will be accumulated and when the expansion is authorized, they will be 
repaid through a portion of the fee charged to HealthCare or Senior Living borrowers. The Authority 
was able to absorb the resulting operating loss through investment revenues for a small net gain of 
$11,839 for the year.  
 
Mr. Mayer noted that BerganKDV has no concerns about financial health of the Authority. The 
Authority maintains an appropriate reserve that would cover 4-5 years of operating expenses, ensure 
cash flow, allow investment in expansion, and/or to be used for a rainy-day contingency fund. 
 

Board Member Mary Ives asked if there was any risk to our reserves because state will be so short on 
funds due to COVID. Executive Director Fick noted that the Authority has previously performed an 
analysis of the funds needed to continue operations of the Authority and to respond to possible 
lawsuits, failure by borrowers to pay required debt service and force majeure. The Authority staff has 
worked to ensure it has a rational business case for the use of those funds and has earmarked them 
for different uses, such as litigation protection.  
 
The Authority has fielded inquiries in regards to the reason for its fund balance level in the past, and 
with the help of the college presidents and MPCC, the Authority demonstrated how the Authority’s 
reserves are separate and distinct from the state of Minnesota’s funds. Since all of the Authority 
funds are paid by borrowers, and the Authority has never received any State of Minnesota funds, any 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 5 
 
 

Authority accumulated funds are not available for use by anyone but the Authority or indirectly the 
colleges and universities. 
 
A motion was made by Gary Benson to approve and accept the Financial Statements Audit for the 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020. The motion was seconded by Mary Ives. Chair Ranum asked if 
there were any questions, discussion, or changes to the Financial Statements Audit for the Fiscal 
Year Ended June 30, 2020. There were no other questions for Mr. Mayer or Mr. Fick, or Ms. Lee 
related to the FY2020 Audited Financial Statements. 
 
Chair Ranum called for a Roll Call vote regarding the approval and acceptance of the Financial 
Statements Audit for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020. A Roll Call vote was conducted, and 
the Board members voted as follows:  
 
Board Members: Gary Benson   Yes 
   Mary Ives   Yes 

Michael Ranum  Yes 
Bonnie Anderson Rons  Yes 
David Rowland   Yes 
Nancy Sampair   Yes 
Poawit Yang   Yes 
 

There were no votes against the motion and the Financial Statements Audit for the Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30, 2020 were approved. 
 
 
Agenda Item III – Authority Policy Update & Reporting 
 
Authority staff have been working on policy updates for presentation to the Board. One goal of the 
review is to consolidate duplicative policies, clarify uncertainty and make policy review more 
efficient. This month, Operations Manager Amanda Lee was asked by Chair Ranum to outline the 
changes to Section 300 of the Standing Rules of Operation. Revised policy language was discussed, 
and Ms. Lee noted that updates to the Section 300 were primarily to the format as the current 
Section 300 largely reflects current operating procedures. Upon completion of the review Ms. Lee 
and Chair Ranum asked if Board members had questions or comments. Board members had no 
questions but expressed appreciation for the work on the Standing Rules of Operation and indicated 
broad agreement with the updated material. 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 6 
 
 

Agenda Item IV – Old Business  
 
There were 3 items of old business to come before the Board: 
 
Municipal Advisor RFP: The Authority’s Municipal Advisor RFP sent directly to 18 firms, GovWatch 
was informed, and it was added to the Authority’s website and BondLink website. So far, there have 
been two declines, and six confirming they will respond. Reviews and interviews are on track to be 
done in December, with recommendations for selection to be presented at the December Authority 
Board meeting. 
 

University of St. Thomas Series 2019: Operations Manager, Amanda Lee, showed the board a drone 
video of the newly constructed residence halls and photos of the exterior and interior. The video and 
photos are available at: https://news.stthomas.edu/tommie-east-and-tommie-north-receive-
finishing-polish/?utm_source=marketing-cloud&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=alumni-
fy21&utm_content=homecoming-events-upper-quad-virtual-tour 
 

Oath of Office: Operations Manager, Amanda Lee, provided an update she has worked with the 
Director of Boards and Commissions at the Governor’s Office and the Secretary of State’s Office to 
obtain the appropriate Oaths depending on which Governor appointed the board member. Four 
board members will need to sign oaths, and Ms. Lee requested that board members sign the oath if 
emailed that it is needed. If no email is received, no new Oath of Office form is needed. 
 
There were no other old business items from staff or Board members. 
 
 
Agenda Item V – New Business 
 
Chair Ranum asked Mr. Fick to update the Board on any new business. Mr. Fick indicated there 
were three items under new business that he and Operations Manager Lee wished to update the 
Board about.  
 
Operations Manager Lee discussed United States Postal Service Delivery Options: Currently 
Authority mail is being forwarded to Amanda’s home address. Operations Manager, Amanda Lee, 
suggested looking into options for long-term mail delivery. It was decided that as a first step, 
Authority staff should investigate what others are doing. 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 7 
 
 

Both Operations Manager Lee and Executive Director Fick presented thoughts on how the 
Authority might hold the 2021 Debt Financing Conference and concurrently celebrate the 
50th Anniversary of the Authority.  Two keynote speakers have been asked to speak at the 
conference, and Authority staff will be putting together a history of the Authority, asking previous 
staff and partners to contribute to an expanded history.  
 
The MPCC CFO meeting does not need to coordinate with the Authority’s conference if it will be 
virtual. Nancy Sampair asked to consider delaying the conference until June or some other time in 
2021 if there is a chance that it could be held in person instead. She would prefer not to lock the 
Authority into an April virtual conference at this point. More discussions will be necessary in coming 
months as more information is gathered and updates on COVID are available. 
 

Presidents: Executive Director Fick presented the newly appointed college/university presidents of 
the past year. At a future meeting, Paul Cerkvenik, President of the Minnesota Private College 
Council will provide a more in-depth outline of the new Presidents.      
 
Chair Ranum asked for an update on how schools are doing. Executive Director Fick said they are 
doing well so far and many saw record retention of students in many cases. Bethel University had a 
special circumstance come up that will be discussed in the Executive Director’s Report. 
 
Chair Ranum asked if there were any New Business items from Board members for discussion. There 
were no New Business items from Board members for discussion. 
 
Agenda Item VI – Other Business 
 
Chair Ranum called upon Executive Director Fick to discuss Other Business. Mr. Fick presented his 
Executive Director’s report. It included the following items regarding staff and Authority activity and 
events and personnel changes at the schools. 
 
We continue to function in accord with State of Minnesota “if you can work from home you must 
work from home” mandate. We make separate occasional visits to the office, including for the 
October 21, 2020 Board Meeting. This is the second meeting conducted using the Zoom video 
conferencing, in addition to the regular conference call number. We appreciate your feedback on 
how the Zoom access works for you and if you have additional thoughts, please share them with us so 
we can improve future meetings 
 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 8 
 
 

 
Executive Director Fick extended an invitation to the Board to review the NAHEFFA Virtual 
Conference Agenda and to let Authority staff know if they would like to attend. Mr. Fick will be 
moderating two panels during the Conference and leading the discussion of the Member 
Roundtable, which is the concluding session of the Conference. 
 

Executive Director Fick presented at a virtual event for NAMA, along with Tracey Gran of St. 
Catherine University and Jan Hanson from St. Olaf College. There were over 125 registrants and the 
event offered a great opportunity for the Authority to increase its visibility with the Municipal 
Analyst community and allow them to gain a stronger understanding of Authority borrowers. 
 

St. Olaf College will be doing a financing for new residence halls in the next few months with a sale 
anticipated for January. Their financing request will be considered at the November and December 
Authority meetings 
 

Bethel University contacted the Authority for assistance in determining how to resolve a potential 
covenant non-compliance issue related to their FY2020 audit. The Authority coordinated efforts 
with the underwriter, University Counsel, Bond Counsel, and the Trustee to successfully resolve the 
issue in Bethel’s favor, affirming the applicability of Force Majeure language to apply in the 
determination of covenant compliance. 
 

Bonnie Question – Was the exception for Bethel and one-time exception? Barry – Yes, next year 
they will need their finances to be in order, or if the pandemic is still on-going, Force Majeure may 
still apply, but Bethel would still need to show they took all reasonable steps to mitigate. 
 
Mary Ives asked if force majeure language is included on all Authority bond agreements. Executive 
Director Fick noted it is included on all our outstanding bond issues. 
 

Space Needs: With other agencies thinking similar to the Authority about downsizing office space 
needs, the state is conducting a survey on space needs. Some of the metro area schools have 
expressed that they would welcome the Authority’s Board meetings periodically throughout the 
year. The Authority may be able to consider space needs with the idea that board meetings would 
take place at college/university locations. 
                                
 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 
Board Meeting Minutes of October 21, 2020 

Page 9 
 
 

Bonnie Anderson Rons commented that she had an opportunity to view the Authority’s updated 
website. She stated her observation that the website looks very well designed. It is clean, easy to use, 
laid out nicely, and she can see why we have received good reviews. 
 

Executive Director Fick commented that there will be Bond Counsel fees related to Bethel 
University and recommended that the Board consider an allocation between Bethel and the 
Authority for payment. This item will be added to a future meeting agenda once the invoice is 
received. 
 
That concluded Mr. Fick’s Executive Director’s report for October 2020. 
 
At the conclusion of the Executive Directors report, Chair Ranum entertained a motion to adjourn 
the general meeting. A motion to adjourn as made by David Rowland and seconded by Bonnie 
Anderson Rons. 
 
The Board then voted by voice vote to adjourn at 3:16 pm, CDT. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
       ____________________ 
       Assistant Secretary  



Ole Avenue Housing Project

Minnesota Higher Education Financing Authority

November 18, 2020



Aerial View



Site 
Plan



Residence Hall 
Courtyard Views



Residence Hall 
Tower Views



Residence Hall Room 
Configuration



Town House Courtyard View



Duplex Town House Floor Layout



Project Budget:

Residence Hall Townhouses Total Project
Permits, Rezoning, Abatement, Utility 650,000$         350,000$         1,000,000$      

Design Fees/Services 5,676,120        1,083,000        6,759,120        
Construction Costs 33,756,275      13,527,715      47,283,990      

Furniture, Fixture, Equipment 894,120            476,000            1,370,120        
Technology 427,650            7,900                435,550            

Site Landscape FFE 350,000            150,000            500,000            
Facility Equipment 200,000            200,000            

Owner Contingency 1,742,839        708,381            2,451,220        
43,697,004$    16,302,996$    60,000,000$    



Cost Per Bed 
Comparisons:

Residence Hall:  Per Bed
2 bedroom/4 beds dorm – 270 beds $73,620
Single bedroom – 30 beds $134,353

Town Houses:
Duplex Units – 60 beds $85,965
Eight-Plex – 80 beds $76,397

Institution Year Built Cost/Bed

University of St. Thomas 2020 $73,225
UI – Champaign* 2018 $73,171
UM – Duluth* Start 2020 $76,923
Midland University 2020 $105,000
Carthage College* 2019 $142,063
Marquette University 2019 $72,666
IU Bloomington (on hold) 2020 $77,143
UW-Whitewater 2019 $62,195
University of Illinois 2016 $86,280
University of Michigan* 2015 $184,523
Carleton College 2009 $89,673

*Includes non-residential space



Business Plan:

Setting unrestricted endowments to spend $2.3M
Utilize a portion of the 2.5% net revenue 

set aside for capital enhancements $1.6M
Additional revenue from occupancy, programming, parking $0.7M

Total Revenue $4.6M 

Annual Interest payments through 2036 $2.5M 
Annual depreciation expense  $1.6M 
Operating expense $0.5M

Total Expenses $4.6M



• Planning & DesignJan. 2019 -
Now 

• Site Preparation
• Obtain Financing
• Secure Building Permits & Zoning Requirements

Fall 2020

• Break Ground on Residence Hall
• Break Ground on Town Homes

Spring & 
Summer 

2021

• Open Residence Hall and Town Homes Fall 2022



Questions?



  

North Slope Capital Advisors 

1630 Welton Street, Suite 802 

Denver, CO 80202 

303-953-4101 

 

 

November 18, 2020 
 

 

Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

c/o Mr. Michael D. Ranum, Board Chair 

 and Mr. Barry W. Fick, Executive Director 

380 Jackson Street, Suite 450 

Saint Paul, MN  55101 
 

Dear Mr. Ranum, Mr. Fick, & Authority Board Members: 
 

As the independent registered municipal advisor for the Authority, we are pleased to provide the following 

review of the financing application submitted by St. Olaf College (the “College”) for assistance from the 

Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority (the “Authority”) to issue its Series 2021A Revenue Bonds 

(the “Bonds”) to finance: 
 

(1) the acquisition, construction, equipping and furnishing of a new student housing project, consisting 

of a 300-bed residence hall and 14 new townhouses, each townhouse containing 10 beds (the 

“Project”), 

(2) capitalized interest through October 1, 2022, and 

(3) the costs of issuing the bonds. 
 

Provided below is a summary of the financing followed by a detailed review of the College’s credit profile, 

the Project, and the proposed revenue bond financing. 
 

Financing Summary 

Par Amount (Estimated as of October 20, 2020) $62,905,000 

Financing Type New Money Only 

Project Residence Hall and Townhouses 

Prior MHEFA Bonds Outstanding (as of 11/1/2020) Series Eight-N (2016) - $22,475,000 

Series Eight-G (2015) - $44,685,000 

Current Underlying Rating A1 (Stable) as of 5/31/2019 

Underwriter Piper Sandler 

Bond Counsel Fryberger Law Firm 

Issuance Date (Estimated) March 2021 
 

Based on our review of the material provided by the College, including the debt service pro formas provided 

by the Underwriter and the additional analysis completed in the following pages, it is North Slope’s opinion 

that a borrowing in the amount required to achieve its purposes is fiscally feasible and that a bond with 

adequate security can be structured.  Accordingly, North Slope will be attending the Authority’s meeting 

on November 18, 2020 to present our review of the College’s application and answer any questions on the 

information contained in this letter. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 

 

NORTH SLOPE CAPITAL ADVISORS by NORTH SLOPE CAPITAL ADVISORS by 

Steph M. Chichester, President Nick E. Taylor, Managing Director 
 

cc: Ms. Janet K. Hanson, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

 Mr. Mark Gelle, Assistant Vice President & Chief Investment Officer  



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Page: 1 

 

The College 

 

History 

St. Olaf College (“St. Olaf” or the “College”) is a private, four-year, co-educational liberal arts college located 

in Northfield, Minnesota.  The College was founded in 1874 by a group of Norwegian-American pioneer 

pastors, farmers, and businessmen and operated as an academy, St. Olaf’s School, until 1886.  The purpose 

of the school was to offer a program of liberal studies to students preparing for careers in business, politics, 

the clergy, and other professions. In 1889, the name was changed to St. Olaf College and the first college 

class graduated in 1890.  Today, the College offers 44 graduation majors, including 10 teaching 

certifications, 19 concentrations and 20 pre-professional fields.   

 

Enrollment  

The College’s full-time and headcount enrollment trends for the last five fall semesters are reflected in the 

table below.   

 

Fall 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 
      

Headcount 2,953 3,072 3,048 3,035 3,040 

Change (#) (119) 24 13 (5) (6) 

Change (%) -4.03% 0.78% 0.43% -0.16% -0.20% 
      

FTE 2,916 3,050 3,023 3,003 2,990 

Change (#) (134) 27 20 13 (15) 

Change (%) -4.60% 0.89% 0.66% 0.43% -0.50% 

 

While enrollment declined from Fall 2019 to Fall 2020 exclusively due to COVID-19, the College has 

consistently met its objective to maintain full-time, fall semester enrollment between 2,900 to 3,000 over 

the last decade.  Retention and graduation rates have been solid over this same period with close to 90% 

of students on average returning year-over-year and 80% of students graduating by their fourth year.  The 

College continues to admit qualified men and women from varied geographical, cultural, economic, racial, 

and religious backgrounds, consisting of students from 50 states and 82 foreign countries with 57% of full-

time students from outside Minnesota.  Finally, with academic achievement, academic aptitude, and 

personal qualifications driving the primary considerations for the College for determining acceptance, these 

are best represented by the median SAT score for the first-year class, which entered in September 2020, of 

1,260, a median ACT score of 28, and the median high school rank in the 87th percentile.  

 

Summary of Financial Operations  

The College has demonstrated positive operating surpluses and consistent operating margins due to the 

steady growth of operating revenues and sound expense management over the last several fiscal years.  For 

Fiscal Year 2020, while overall operating revenues decreased approximately 6% year-over-year due to a 

decrease in enrollment, the College produced a positive operating surplus from the receipt of $2.2 million 

in funding from the Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF), a reduction of operating expenses 

of over 1.0%, and an increase of net assets released from restrictions of over 12% year-over-year.   

 

Provided in Appendix A is a Statement of Activities and Change in Net Assets for the College’s two prior fiscal 

years ending May 31, 2020 and May 31, 2019 which presents information about the College’s operating 

activities derived from the audited financial statements. 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Page: 2 

 

Summary of Financial Position  

The College has demonstrated solid cash flow margins and strong investment returns over the last several 

years which has bolstered its financial reserves.  As demonstrated below, the College increased its total 

assets by over 6.0% from Fiscal Year 2016 to Fiscal Year 2020 while reducing its liabilities over 21% during 

that same period.   

 

 
 

In Fiscal Year 2020, the decrease in net assets of over $27 million year-over-year was attributed to a thinner 

operating surplus, nonoperating activities, including a negative investment return of 2.55% on the 

endowment and a reduction in capital giving activities due to the conclusion of the successful capital 

campaign.  However, the College maintains a healthy 434 monthly days cash on hand with an operating 

reserve ratio of over 2.6x (spendable cash and investments to operating expenses) for Fiscal Year 2020.   

 

Provided in Appendix B is Statements of Financial Position for the College’s prior five fiscal years ending 

May 31, 2020 thru May 31, 2016 which presents information about the College’s assets, liabilities and net 

assets derived from the audited financial statements. 

 

Summary of Outstanding Debt 

As of November 1, 2020, the College had $67,160,000 of outstanding bonds, all in a fixed rate mode, and 

issued by the Authority for the College’s benefit as summarized below.  

 

Outstanding Debt 

Series Issue Date Original Principal Outstanding Principal Mode 

Series Eight-G July 1, 2015     53,745,000     44,685,000 Fixed Rate 

Series Eight-N September 15, 2016     22,845,000   22,475,000 Fixed Rate 

  $76,590,000 $67,160,000  

 

The proposed Series 2021A issuance of approximately $62.905 million in principal amount will represent a 

48% increase to the College’s outstanding debt; however, the College’s liquidity is expected to remain 

robust with projected spendable cash and investments providing a strong 2.43x coverage of outstanding 

and proposed debt.  The College’s operating cash flows provide for solid affordability for the existing and 

proposed debt service in the near-term; however, projected maximum aggregate annual debt service (~$8.3 

million) as a percent of operations would increase to 6.7% based on operating expenses for Fiscal Year 2020 

(~$123 million) which is high for the College’s rating category.  

ASSETS 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Total Assets 812,980,169$        843,443,410$        848,336,096$        805,923,602$        764,920,265$        

LIABILIT IES

Total Liabilities 111,903,576          114,964,036          125,467,283          128,924,309          142,167,324          

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions 333,754,638          342,010,101          350,214,057          -                           -                           

With donor restrictions 367,321,955          386,469,273          372,654,756          -                           -                           

Unrestricted -                           -                           -                           282,661,370          264,095,592          

Temporarily restricted -                           -                           -                           180,998,707          156,381,653          

Permanently restricted -                           -                           -                           213,339,216          202,275,696          

Total Net Assets 701,076,593          728,479,374          722,868,813          676,999,293          622,752,941          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 812,980,169$        843,443,410$        848,336,096$        805,923,602$        764,920,265$        



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Page: 3 

 

The Project 

 

In September 2018, the College initiated a Student Housing Market & Demand Analysis Report from 

Scion/Workshop to assess how the College will continue to provide an exceptional on-campus student 

residential experience through potential new housing and renovations to current residence halls on the 

College’s campus. As an essential first step, the Scion/Workshop Team utilized qualitative and quantitative 

data with precise analytics to ensure that planning decisions encompass the true demand for future student 

housing.  Furthermore, different renovation scenarios were explored relative to their impact on capital 

improvements, student experience, cost, and beds count.  To complete its analysis, the Scion/Workshop 

Team’s observations were based on the following assumptions:  

• The College will require a 4-year live on campus residency (with a maximum of 100 students allowed 

to live off-campus), 

• Existing residence halls will be returned to their original design capacity by converting rooms that 

had been turned into triples and quads throughout the years, and 

• All Honor Houses will be replaced with new buildings that will afford a similar communal experience. 

 

Below is a picture of the “area of focus” for the College’s Housing Plan. 

 

 
 

Based on these assumptions and the College’s ability to regulate the impact of the renovations to the 

existing buildings, the Scion/Workshop Team established the need for a minimum of 298 additional beds 

and maximum of 586 beds.  Accordingly, as further described below, the College has decided to issue the 

Series 2021 Bonds to finance the acquisition and construction of a 300-bed residence hall to meet the 

unmet housing demand as well as accommodate the conversion of certain buildings back to original 

capacity, and finance the acquisition and construction of 14 townhouses (140 beds) to replace the Honors 

Houses.  In 2019, the College completed its initial concept of the Project and selected Workshop Architects 

as the architect and Boldt Construction as the general contractor for the Project.  The total cost of the 

Project is approximately $65 million and is expected to be completed in Fall 2022.  



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Page: 4 

 

The Financing 

 

The College anticipates issuing one series of fixed rate, tax-exempt bonds to finance the Project, including 

funding capitalized interest through October 1, 2022 and paying costs of issuance.  The preliminary structure 

assumes the pro forma debt service is ‘wrapped’ around the College’s remaining debt service to achieve a 

level, aggregate annual debt service payment of approximately $8.3 million through fiscal year 2036 which 

declines but remains level at $5.5 million through final maturity in fiscal year 2051.  The estimated par 

amount of the Bonds is approximately $62,905,000 with the first principal payment estimated to be October 

1, 2036 and a final maturity estimated to be October 1, 2050 (30-year bond issue).  Provided in Appendix C 

is a debt service ‘skyline’ for the College’s outstanding and pro forma debt service based on debt service 

schedules provided by the Underwriter on October 20, 2020.    

 

The College has determined to issue the Bonds as a negotiated sale and has selected Piper Sandler & Co. 

(“Piper”) to act as sole managing underwriter.  Piper is experienced in negotiating sales of tax-exempt bonds 

not only for issuers in Minnesota but also across the country and has direct experience with St. Olaf, acting 

as sole managing underwriter for the College’s Series Five-H Bonds, Series Seven-F Bonds, Series Eight-G 

Bonds, and Series Eight-N Bonds issued by the Authority for the College’s benefit. 

 

Sources and Uses (as of October 20, 2020) 

A preliminary estimate of sources and uses for the Bonds is provided below: 

 

Preliminary Sources and Uses 

SOURCES  

  Par amount   $62,905,000 

  Net Original Issue Premium  7,294,747 

Total Sources  $70,199,747 

  

USES  

  Deposit to Project Fund   $65,000,000 

  Deposit to Capitalized Interest Fund 4,819,100 

  Costs of issuance         380,647 

Total Uses  $70,199,747 

 
Security for the Bonds 

The Bonds will be issued by the Authority and secured by loan repayments made by the College pursuant 

to a Loan Agreement between the Authority and the College, or from other amounts pledged pursuant to 

a Trust Indenture.  The Bonds will be payable solely as a general obligation of the College from the general 

funds or any other moneys legally available to the College.  While additional security for the Bonds will 

continue to be discussed among the Authority, Bond Counsel, the College, Piper, and North Slope, it is 

anticipated there will not be a mortgage lien nor security interest in any property of the College, no funded 

debt service reserve fund, a ‘negative pledge’ on the College’s real property subject to permitted 

encumbrances, and certain financial covenants including annual financial tests and additional bonds tests.  

At this time, it is anticipated that the Bonds will be issued on parity with the College’s outstanding Series 

Eight-G and Series Eight-N Bonds.   

 

 

 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Page: 5 

 

Financial Covenants  

The College is subject to two financial covenants contained in the Loan Agreement(s) for the Series Eight-G 

Bonds and Series Eight-N Bonds issued through the Authority as summarized below: 

1. For at least two of the preceding three complete Fiscal Years, the Revenue/Expenditure Test must 

be met, and 

2. For so long as the [Series Eight-G Bonds and Series Eight-N Bonds] remain outstanding, the College 

shall incur no Funded Debt with a maturity in excess of two years unless the average pro forma 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the last two audited Fiscal Years was at least 110%. 

 

For purposes of this Application Review Letter, North Slope has calculated the financial covenants in the 

table below: 

 

Financial Covenant Calculations 

 Fiscal Year 2020 Fiscal Year 2019 

1. Revenue/Expenditure Test   

(Calc:  Adjusted Increase in Unrestricted Net Assets > 0) $ 8,323,211 $12,370,917 

   

2. Debt Service Coverage Ratio    

(Calc:  Net Income Available for Debt Service ÷ MADS > 110%)   

   Net Income Available for Debt Service  $ 8,323,211 $12,370,917 

   Maximum Annual Debt Service (incl. proposed debt) $ 8,285,484 $ 8,285,484 

   Annual Debt Service Coverage Ratio 100% 149% 

   Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Two-Year Average) 124.5% 

 

As indicated above, while the College meets the Revenue/Expenditure Test, it does not meet the Debt 

Service Coverage Ratio for Fiscal Year 2020. While the two-year average Debt Service Coverage Ratio of 

124.5% allows the College to comply with the Funded Debt Covenant, the College will want to plan to 

include additional revenues from either the Project and/or operations for calculating Net Income Available 

for Debt Service which can assist with meeting the 110% Debt Service Coverage Ratio on an annual basis.  

North Slope will update the Authority and the Board at the December Board meeting on resolution of this 

issue. 

 

Rating 

The College is currently rated “A1” with a stable outlook from Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) which 

was affirmed on June 3, 2019 in conjunction with Moody’s annual surveillance.  While the proposed Project 

and anticipated borrowing have been referenced in the most recent Credit Opinion from the College, 

Moody’s has not provided a rating on the Bonds as of the date of this Application Review Letter.  It is 

anticipated that the rating conference with the College and Moody’s will be scheduled in early 2021 with 

the rating for the Bonds published before issuing the Bonds in March 2021.   

 

Provided in Appendix D are relevant financial ratios and Moody’s Private University Medians1 designed to 

provide information about the financial performance of the College compared to similarly rated private 

universities.  A sample of these ratios are included in the current version of Moody’s Credit Opinion of the 

College which has been provided in Appendix E.   

 
1 Moody’s Investors Service:  Medians–Private universities produced steady operating performance in fiscal 2019 (dated June 25, 2020) 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Appendix A 

 
 

 

 

OPERATING REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT

2020

Without Donor Restrictions

2020

With Donor Restrictions

2019

Without Donor Restrictions

2019

With Donor Restrictions

Tuition, room and board, net of scholarships 81,011,926$                          -$                                         89,717,102$                          -$                                         

Other tuition and fees 2,994,470                               -                                           3,588,148                               -                                           

Government grants 4,986,304                               -                                           2,881,839                               -                                           

Private gifts and grants 3,018,621                               4,436,041                               3,155,441                               6,042,631                               

Long-term investment income and gains allocated for operations 6,325,196                               14,490,501                             6,142,270                               13,078,413                             

Other sources 3,575,625                               31,010                                     3,789,098                               53,329                                     

Investment income 250,142                                  37,230                                     382,181                                  47,599                                     

Net losses on investments and capital assets (20,451)                                   -                                           (53,401)                                   -                                           

Capital gifts allocated 2,209,004                               -                                           2,086,627                               -                                           

Auxiliary enterprises - sales and services 1,358,469                               -                                           1,553,497                               -                                           

105,709,306                          18,994,782                             113,242,802                          19,221,972                             

Net assets released from restrictions (Notes 1 and 3) 20,218,783                             (20,218,783)                           18,070,474                             (18,070,474)                           

Total Operating Revenues, Gains and Other Support 125,928,089                          (1,224,001)                              131,313,276                          1,151,498                               

OPERATING EXPENSES

Program expenses 107,964,438 -                                           109,259,531                          -                                           

Support expenses 15,138,525                             -                                           15,103,564                             -                                           

Total Operating Expenses 123,102,963                          -                                           124,363,095                          -                                           

Change in Net Assets from Operating Activities 2,825,126                               (1,224,001)                              6,950,181                               1,151,498                               

NONOPERATING ACTIVIT IES

Long-term investment activities (4,100,197)                              (9,516,660)                              (380,225)                                 959,952                                  

Less: Long-term investment income and gains allocated for operations (6,325,196)                              (14,490,501)                           (6,142,270)                              (13,078,413)                           

(10,425,393)                           (24,007,161)                           (6,522,495)                              (12,118,461)                           

Student loan income net of expenses (12)                                           85,309                                     (6,539)                                      69,111                                     

Deferred giving activities - gifts 606                                          48,300                                     4,992                                       30,093                                     

Capital giving activities - gifts and grants 319,515                                  5,855,008                               749,059                                  15,859,687                             

Capital related gifts released from restrictions (Notes 1 and 3) 103,210                                  (103,210)                                 5,131,990                               (5,131,990)                              

Capital gifts allocated to operations (2,209,004)                              -                                           (2,086,627)                              -                                           

Adjustment to actuarial liability for annuities payable (42,760)                                   228,440                                  (136,336)                                 1,333,690                               

Adjustment to prior service cost and actuarial liability for retiree health plan (115,345)                                 -                                           332,708                                  -                                           

Gain from sale of asset 1,258,591                               -                                           -                                           -                                           

Change in Net Assets from Nonoperating Activities (11,110,592)                           (17,893,314)                           (2,533,248)                              42,130                                     

Change in Net Assets before reclassification of net assets (8,285,466)                              (19,117,315)                           4,416,933                               1,193,628                               

Reclassification of prior year net assets (per gift matching in 2019 only) 30,003                                     (30,003)                                   (12,620,889)                           12,620,889                             

Change in Net Assets (8,255,463)                              (19,147,318)                           (8,203,956)                              13,814,517                             

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 342,010,101                          386,469,273                          350,214,057                          372,654,756                          

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 333,754,638$                        367,321,955$                        342,010,101$                        386,469,273$                        

ST. OLAF COLLEGE

Consolidated Statement of Activities

As of May 31, 2020 thru 2015



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Appendix B 

 
 

 
 

 

ASSETS 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 14,787,998$          15,812,056$          18,867,938$          16,002,555$          14,396,858$          

Receivables

Accounts, net 965,774                  1,446,436               1,663,058               1,259,942               2,161,211               

Contributions, net 9,668,851               13,759,905            7,283,233               7,949,405               8,898,491               

Student loans, net 5,142,730               5,912,828               6,673,080               6,792,854               6,451,808               

Notes receivable 750,000                  901,650                  750,000                  750,000                  

Investments 534,121,613          553,530,710          562,976,629          520,207,245          471,243,321          

Other assets 666,364                  1,823,418               1,176,052               1,862,793               1,251,908               

Deposits held by trustee 1,082,022               1,753,590               1,800,302               1,839,053               23,041,178            

Beneficial interest in trusts held by others 1,797,503               1,767,205               1,800,919               1,683,268               1,582,470               

Beneficial interest in trusts held by others, held at cost -                           -                           491,350                  491,350                  491,350                  

Property, plant and equipment, net 243,997,314          246,735,612          244,853,535          247,085,137          235,401,670          

Total Assets 812,980,169$        843,443,410$        848,336,096$        805,923,602$        764,920,265$        

LIABILIT IES

Accounts payable 2,723,063$            2,268,218$            4,667,136$            3,650,554$            6,660,886$            

Accrued and other liabilities 14,694,177            14,016,587            15,254,936            15,850,679            15,360,727            

Deferred revenue 5,426,522               3,170,180               4,026,795               3,510,633               2,797,048               

Annuities payable 10,383,168            11,086,670            12,795,080            13,336,999            13,073,837            

Long-term debt 74,567,367            78,608,179            81,980,292            85,252,405            97,084,701            

U.S. government grants refundable 3,540,391               4,948,241               4,991,793               5,446,640               5,437,487               

Deposits held in trust for others 568,888                  865,961                  1,751,251               1,876,399               1,752,638               

Total Liabilities 111,903,576          114,964,036          125,467,283          128,924,309          142,167,324          

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions 333,754,638          342,010,101          350,214,057          -                           -                           

With donor restrictions 367,321,955          386,469,273          372,654,756          -                           -                           

Unrestricted -                           -                           -                           282,661,370          264,095,592          

Temporarily restricted -                           -                           -                           180,998,707          156,381,653          

Permanently restricted -                           -                           -                           213,339,216          202,275,696          

Total Net Assets 701,076,593          728,479,374          722,868,813          676,999,293          622,752,941          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 812,980,169$        843,443,410$        848,336,096$        805,923,602$        764,920,265$        

ST. OLAF COLLEGE

Statements of Financial Position

As of May 31, 2020 thru 2015



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Appendix C 

 
 

 
 
 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

20
36

20
37

20
38

20
39

20
40

20
41

20
42

20
43

20
44

20
45

20
46

20
47

20
48

20
49

20
50

20
51

A
n

n
u

al
 P

ri
n

ci
p

al
 a

n
d

 In
te

re
st

 (
$0

00
s)

Fiscal Year 
(5/31)

St. Olaf College
Debt Service "Skyline" (Outstanding and Proposed 2021A Bonds)

As of November 1, 2020

Series Eight-G (2015) Series Eight-N (2016) Series 2021A (Estimated)



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Appendix D 
 

 

Definitions of Moody's Ratios St. Olaf College 

(FY 2020 Ratio) 

St. Olaf College 

(FY 2020 Ratio + 

Additional Debt) 

Moody's "A" Rating 

Median 

(FY 2019 Report) 

Formula 

Age of Plant (#, in Years)         

Provides a rough indicator of institutional deferred maintenance as 

well as the operating efficiency of the existing plant facilities 

15.01 n/a 14.47 Accumulated depreciation divided by annual 

depreciation expense 

Maximum Annual Debt Service Coverage (x)         

Measures the ability of a university to make debt service payments 

from annual operations assuming maximum annual debt service 

3.20 2.55 2.93 The sum of annual operating surplus (deficit), annual 

depreciation expense, interest expense, amortization, 

and additional, unusually large non-cash expenses, 

divided by maximum annual debt service 

Debt Service to Operating Expenses (%)         

Measures annual debt service burden on the annual operating budget 5.38 5.38 4.99 Annual debt service divided by Operating Expenses 

Spendable Cash & Investments to Total Debt (x)         

Measures the university's ability to repay bondholders from wealth 

that can be accessed over time or for a specific purpose 

4.48 2.43 1.93 Spendable Cash & Investments divided by Total Debt 

Total Cash & Investments to Total Debt (x)         

Measures coverage of total debt by assets that generate investment 

return 

8.19 4.22 2.77 Total Cash & Investments divided by Total Debt 

Total Debt ($)         

Measures direct obligations of a university and its affiliated 

foundation(s) 

67,060,000 129,965,000 150,817,087 The par amount of bonds, notes, commercial paper, 

capital leases, bank loans, and draws upon lines of 

credit 

 



Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

Application Review Letter from North Slope Capital Advisors 

for Financing from St. Olaf College (Series 2021A) 

Date: November 18, 2020 

Appendix E 

 
 

 
 
 



U.S. PUBLIC FINANCE

CREDIT OPINION
3 June 2019

Contacts

Debra Roane +1.212.553.6899
VP-Sr Credit Officer
debra.roane@moodys.com

Dennis M. Gephardt +1.212.553.7209
VP-Sr Credit Officer
dennis.gephardt@moodys.com

Diane F. Viacava +1.212.553.4734
VP-Sr Credit Officer
diane.viacava@moodys.com

CLIENT SERVICES

Americas 1-212-553-1653

Asia Pacific 852-3551-3077

Japan 81-3-5408-4100

EMEA 44-20-7772-5454

St. Olaf College, MN
Update to credit analysis

Summary
St. Olaf College’s very good credit quality (A1 stable) reflects the college's national brand
as a selective liberal arts college with generally stable enrollment. The college's sound fiscal
management has underpinned very strong operating surpluses and cash flow, over many
consecutive years despite ongoing weakness in net tuition which comprise nearly 70% of its
income. Healthy cash flow margins have contributed to growing wealth and liquidity levels.
Credit quality is also supported by the college's low leverage, although, it is likely to increase
over the next several years with potential borrowing for campus improvements which could
include student residences.

Offsetting factors include a highly competitive environment, heavy reliance on student
charges, and an elevated tuition discount rate relative to peers, which has severely dampened
revenue growth. If sustained, weak revenue growth could impact the college's strategic
positioning and operating performance over time.

Exhibit 1

Growth in endowment spending and investment income at St. Olaf has helped mitigate declines
in net tuition revenue

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

$140

$160

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

m
il
li
o
n

s

Net tuition Net auxiliary enterprises Contributions and net assets released for operations Endowment spending and investment income Other

Source: Moody's Investors Service

Credit strengths

» Consistently strong operating surpluses with 7.9% three-year average operating margin in
fiscal 2016 – 2018 and 20.3% cash flow margin in fiscal 2018

» Excellent 5x cushion of debt from spendable cash and investments

» National market presence, with nearly 60% of students from out of state in fall 2018

» Strong fiscal planning and oversight by experienced management team supports
maintenance of strong liquidity

http://www.surveygizmo.com/s3/1133212/Rate-this-research?pubid=PBM_1178482
https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/St-Olaf-College-MN-credit-rating-600035060


MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE U.S. PUBLIC FINANCE

» Loyal donor base with three-year average gift revenue of $22 million per year through fiscal 2018

Credit challenges

» Increasingly competitive environment, reflected in rising tuition discount rate to 56.8% in fiscal 2018

» Decline in net tuition revenue of nearly 11% in over the four years through fiscal 2018

» High reliance on student charges at 68% of operating revenues in fiscal 2018

» Ongoing capital needs, a portion of which will likely be debt financed and increase financial leverage

Rating outlook
The stable outlook reflects expectations of generating good very cash flow and debt service coverage and no material use of reserves.

Factors that could lead to an upgrade

» Substantially stronger balance sheet reserve cushion for debt and operations

» Greater revenue diversification, particularly in fundraising

» Stronger student market reflected in net tuition revenue growth and stabilization of the discount rate

Factors that could lead to a downgrade

» Deterioration in operating performance due to inability to grow net tuition revenue

» Additional material borrowing in the context of a narrowing in cash flows

» Significant decline of unrestricted liquidity

Key indicators

Exhibit 2
ST. OLAF COLLEGE, MN

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Median: A 

Rated Private 

Universities

Total FTE Enrollment 3,003 3,016 2,990 3,012 3,031 4,604

Operating Revenue ($000) 132,948 131,175 134,446 132,298 133,326 185,094

Annual Change in Operating Revenue (%) 2.7 -1.3 2.5 -1.6 0.8 2.6

Total Cash & Investments ($000) 488,086 504,498 485,640 536,210 581,845 382,221

Total Debt ($000) 75,860 73,240 89,475 76,560 73,845 144,757

Spendable Cash & Investments to Total Debt (x) 4.2 4.4 3.3 4.3 5.0 1.8

Spendable Cash & Investments to Operating Expenses (x) 2.7 2.8 2.4 2.7 3.0 1.4

Monthly Days Cash on Hand (x) 661 661 600 642 442 355

Operating Cash Flow Margin (%) 23.2 22.0 20.4 18.6 20.3 14.1

Total Debt to Cash Flow (x) 2.5 2.5 3.3 3.1 2.7 4.9

Annual Debt Service Coverage (x) 5.2 4.9 5.0 3.2 4.4 2.7

Source: Moody's Investors Service

This publication does not announce a credit rating action. For any credit ratings referenced in this publication, please see the ratings tab on the issuer/entity page on
www.moodys.com for the most updated credit rating action information and rating history.

2          3 June 2019 St. Olaf College, MN: Update to credit analysis



MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE U.S. PUBLIC FINANCE

Profile
St. Olaf College, founded in 1874, is a private four-year liberal arts college affiliated with Evangelical Lutheran Church in America and
has an historical connection to its Norwegian-American founders. The college is located in Northfield, Minnesota. The college has a
national reputation and enrolled over 3,000 FTE students in fall 2018. Total operating revenues amounted to $133 million in fiscal
2018.

Detailed credit considerations

Market profile: competitive environment dampening enrollment and pricing power
Enrollment is expected to remain generally stable at around 3,000 full time equivalents students (FTE) underpinned by geographic
diversification with 60% of students coming from out of state. The school has maintained good selectivity at around 50%. However,
the ability to hold enrollment steady is supported by a rising and comparatively high discount rate.

National recruiting continues to expand the college's market reach, important due to St. Olaf's location in a demographically
challenged region. These recruitment efforts will continue to play a significant role in maintaining targeted enrollment levels moving
forward as FTE enrollment has shown only minimum growth of around 0.6% annually over the past three years. St. Olaf is highly
reliant on student charges (68% in fiscal 2018), and the ability to grow net tuition revenue is very important for overall revenue
growth. While net tuition revenue has flagged, auxiliary revenue has favorably seen growth and will remain supported by the residency
policies of the college.

As the competitive environment intensifies, the college's ability to grow net tuition has diminished. Net tuition per student declined
4.8% in fiscal 2018 as the tuition discount rate climbed to 56.8 %, from 52.9% in fiscal 2017 and to over 60% for first year freshman,
very high for the rating category and a significant constraint on future pricing flexibility. Enrollment pressures are expected to persist as
similar discount strategies are employed by many competing colleges.

Operating Performance: sound budget management supports strong financial performance in pressured revenue
environment
Conservative budgeting practices will help absorb significant pressures on net tuition revenue, the college's largest source of revenue.
In fiscal 2019, results will be similar to the very strong results registered in fiscal 2018. While net tuition will be flat, due to a nearly
10% rise in financial aid, the college will benefit from increases in endowment income and room and board, and, we believe additional
adjustments will likely be made to keep expenses in line with revenues.

Despite the challenging revenue environment – revenues grew at less than 1% cumulatively over the past four years through fiscal
2018 – three year average operating margins were a sound 7.9% from fiscal 2016 through fiscal 2018, albeit lower than 10% in earlier
years. Furthermore, the cash flow margin measured 20.3% in fiscal 2018 and has been at or above 20% for most of the past seven
years. These results are a testament to the college’s very strong fiscal stewardship and a key underpinning of its credit quality. Nearly
$13 million of budgeted depreciation and a contingency for capital spending act as a budget contingency in the event that there is
unexpected pressure on net tuition revenue.

In 2017, the college initiated its Strategic Resource Allocation Project (SRAP) review all of its programs to identify revenue and
expenditure measures that will maintain the rate of cost increases below revenue growth over the next several years. The school also
plans to reduce the number of positions over the next four years and its collaboration with Carleton College (Aa2 stable) on IT, library
services, and environmental and safety is achieving cost efficiencies.

Wealth and liquidity: strong cash flow bolsters reserves
Solid cash flow margins and strong investment returns will bolster growth in financial reserves that will continue to provide good
coverage of debt and operations. Total cash and investments grew 19% over the last five years, slightly above the median of A1-rated
private universities. Spendable cash and investments of $367 million covered operations 3.0x in fiscal 2018, very good for the A1 rating
category and better than peers. The reserve growth helps support financial aid which funds demonstrated student need. The ability to
continue growing financial reserves while maintaining this policy is important to maintain St. Olaf's competitive advantage.

Through an investment committee of the board and with the help of an investment advisor, the college's endowment continues to
yield returns that are in line with similarly sized endowments. The college reported a return of 9.3% at fiscal 2018, better than peers.

3          3 June 2019 St. Olaf College, MN: Update to credit analysis

https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/Carleton-College-MN-credit-rating-600033935?emsk=2&isMaturityNotDebt=0&isWithDrawnIncluded=0&emvalue=car*%20college%20MN


MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE U.S. PUBLIC FINANCE

Fundraising efforts will also contribute toward wealth generation. St. Olaf has raised around $228 million as of June 2019, ahead of
its 2020 campaign target of $200 million. The $22 million in hree-year average gifts per year through fiscal 2018 is supportive of
operations and facilities.

Liquidity
St. Olaf's liquidity is expected to remain robust, with fiscal 2018 monthly days cash on hand of 442 days providing strong support for
operations. However, it has declined from 642 days in the prior year reflecting a move to increase portfolio allocation to less liquid
investments. The college has some potential calls on liquidity with nearly $81 million in unfunded commitments, or 14% of total
cash and investments, in line with endowments of its size as of fiscal 2018. A majority of those commitments will be funded through
payouts from existing private equity investments.

Leverage: modest leverage supported by strong cash flow and reserves
St. Olaf has a modest leverage profile well supported by spendable cash and investments, providing a strong 5.0x coverage of debt
in fiscal 2018 which is much higher than the A1-rated peers median of 2.6x. The college's robust cash flows make their debt highly
affordable with debt to cash flow at a very low 2.8x compared to the 5.3x median of peers.

Leverage will likely increase over the next one to two years as the college is considering borrowing $60 million to fund campus
improvements which could include housing improvements. The planned expansion and replacement of housing on campus is being
considered to reduce overcrowding in rooms as most students are required to live on campus.

Should this potential borrowing proceed it would bring spendable cash and investments to pro forma debt down to 3.0x and diminish
affordability, with pro forma debt to cash flow rising to 4.9x. The college has no other large borrowing plans. Other renovation projects
and upgrades are expected to be funded through its annual budget allocation

Debt structure
All of the college's debt is fixed rate with amortizing principal.

Legal security
All bonds are unsecured general obligations of the college. Seven-F bonds are further secured by cash funded debt service reserve funds
while Series Eight-N and Series Eight-G bonds issuances do not have debt service reserve funds. The bonds have covenants that require
unrestricted net assets to be positive in two of the last three years, and that average debt service coverage for the last two fiscal years is
at least 1.1x. As of May 31 fiscal 2018 the reported average debt service coverage was 1.6x. Changes in unrestricted net assets continue
to be positive.

Debt-related derivatives
The college has no debt related derivatives exposure.

Pensions and OPEB
St. Olaf has modest employee benefit obligations, with expenses associated with its defined contribution plan totaling $3.8 million or
3.2% of operating expenses in fiscal 2018. A post-retirement health plan exists for eligible employees. which represents less than 1% of
expenses in fiscal 2018.

Governance and management: fiscally prudent team navigates college through a challenging environment
A closely aligned management team supports financial, strategic and capital planning at the college. Operations are supported by
conservative budgeting that incorporates under budgeting for tuition revenue, full depreciation, a health contingency and expense
growth that has historically tracked closely with revenue growth. Operating efficiencies continue to be undertaken through a
collaborative arrangement with nearby Carleton College, supported by a $1.4 million grant from the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation
(Aaa stable). A history of strong fiscal stewardship, thoughtful evaluation of the competitive landscape, and the successful execution of
strategic plans support the college's long-term credit profile.

4          3 June 2019 St. Olaf College, MN: Update to credit analysis

https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/Andrew-W-Mellon-Foundation-NY-credit-rating-806276546


MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE U.S. PUBLIC FINANCE

© 2019 Moody’s Corporation, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., Moody’s Analytics, Inc. and/or their licensors and affiliates (collectively, “MOODY’S”). All rights reserved.

CREDIT RATINGS ISSUED BY MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE, INC. AND ITS RATINGS AFFILIATES (“MIS”) ARE MOODY’S CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT
RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES, AND MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS MAY INCLUDE MOODY’S CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE
RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES. MOODY’S DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS THE RISK THAT AN ENTITY
MAY NOT MEET ITS CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE AND ANY ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT OR IMPAIRMENT. SEE
MOODY’S RATING SYMBOLS AND DEFINITIONS PUBLICATION FOR INFORMATION ON THE TYPES OF CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS ADDRESSED BY MOODY’S
RATINGS. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER RISK, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK, MARKET VALUE RISK, OR PRICE VOLATILITY. CREDIT
RATINGS AND MOODY’S OPINIONS INCLUDED IN MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT STATEMENTS OF CURRENT OR HISTORICAL FACT. MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS MAY
ALSO INCLUDE QUANTITATIVE MODEL-BASED ESTIMATES OF CREDIT RISK AND RELATED OPINIONS OR COMMENTARY PUBLISHED BY MOODY’S ANALYTICS, INC. CREDIT
RATINGS AND MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR PROVIDE INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS
ARE NOT AND DO NOT PROVIDE RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. NEITHER CREDIT RATINGS NOR MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS
COMMENT ON THE SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR. MOODY’S ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS AND PUBLISHES MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS
WITH THE EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL, WITH DUE CARE, MAKE ITS OWN STUDY AND EVALUATION OF EACH SECURITY THAT IS UNDER
CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, OR SALE.

MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY RETAIL INVESTORS AND IT WOULD BE RECKLESS AND INAPPROPRIATE FOR
RETAIL INVESTORS TO USE MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS OR MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS WHEN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION. IF IN DOUBT YOU SHOULD CONTACT
YOUR FINANCIAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER. ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS PROTECTED BY LAW, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, COPYRIGHT LAW,
AND NONE OF SUCH INFORMATION MAY BE COPIED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED, FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED, REDISTRIBUTED
OR RESOLD, OR STORED FOR SUBSEQUENT USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY
PERSON WITHOUT MOODY’S PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY’S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY ANY PERSON AS A BENCHMARK AS THAT TERM IS DEFINED FOR REGULATORY PURPOSES
AND MUST NOT BE USED IN ANY WAY THAT COULD RESULT IN THEM BEING CONSIDERED A BENCHMARK.

All information contained herein is obtained by MOODY’S from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error as well
as other factors, however, all information contained herein is provided “AS IS” without warranty of any kind. MOODY'S adopts all necessary measures so that the information it
uses in assigning a credit rating is of sufficient quality and from sources MOODY'S considers to be reliable including, when appropriate, independent third-party sources. However,
MOODY’S is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently verify or validate information received in the rating process or in preparing the Moody’s publications.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY’S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability to any person or entity for any
indirect, special, consequential, or incidental losses or damages whatsoever arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any
such information, even if MOODY’S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors or suppliers is advised in advance of the possibility of such losses or
damages, including but not limited to: (a) any loss of present or prospective profits or (b) any loss or damage arising where the relevant financial instrument is not the subject of a
particular credit rating assigned by MOODY’S.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY’S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability for any direct or compensatory
losses or damages caused to any person or entity, including but not limited to by any negligence (but excluding fraud, willful misconduct or any other type of liability that, for the
avoidance of doubt, by law cannot be excluded) on the part of, or any contingency within or beyond the control of, MOODY’S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents,
representatives, licensors or suppliers, arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any such information.

NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY CREDIT
RATING OR OTHER OPINION OR INFORMATION IS GIVEN OR MADE BY MOODY’S IN ANY FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER.

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of Moody’s Corporation (“MCO”), hereby discloses that most issuers of debt securities (including
corporate and municipal bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper) and preferred stock rated by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. have, prior to assignment of any rating,
agreed to pay to Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. for ratings opinions and services rendered by it fees ranging from $1,000 to approximately $2,700,000. MCO and MIS also maintain
policies and procedures to address the independence of MIS’s ratings and rating processes. Information regarding certain affiliations that may exist between directors of MCO and
rated entities, and between entities who hold ratings from MIS and have also publicly reported to the SEC an ownership interest in MCO of more than 5%, is posted annually at
www.moodys.com under the heading “Investor Relations — Corporate Governance — Director and Shareholder Affiliation Policy.”

Additional terms for Australia only: Any publication into Australia of this document is pursuant to the Australian Financial Services License of MOODY’S affiliate, Moody’s Investors
Service Pty Limited ABN 61 003 399 657AFSL 336969 and/or Moody’s Analytics Australia Pty Ltd ABN 94 105 136 972 AFSL 383569 (as applicable). This document is intended
to be provided only to “wholesale clients” within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. By continuing to access this document from within Australia, you
represent to MOODY’S that you are, or are accessing the document as a representative of, a “wholesale client” and that neither you nor the entity you represent will directly or
indirectly disseminate this document or its contents to “retail clients” within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. MOODY’S credit rating is an opinion as to
the creditworthiness of a debt obligation of the issuer, not on the equity securities of the issuer or any form of security that is available to retail investors.

Additional terms for Japan only: Moody's Japan K.K. (“MJKK”) is a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of Moody's Group Japan G.K., which is wholly-owned by Moody’s
Overseas Holdings Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of MCO. Moody’s SF Japan K.K. (“MSFJ”) is a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of MJKK. MSFJ is not a Nationally
Recognized Statistical Rating Organization (“NRSRO”). Therefore, credit ratings assigned by MSFJ are Non-NRSRO Credit Ratings. Non-NRSRO Credit Ratings are assigned by an
entity that is not a NRSRO and, consequently, the rated obligation will not qualify for certain types of treatment under U.S. laws. MJKK and MSFJ are credit rating agencies registered
with the Japan Financial Services Agency and their registration numbers are FSA Commissioner (Ratings) No. 2 and 3 respectively.

MJKK or MSFJ (as applicable) hereby disclose that most issuers of debt securities (including corporate and municipal bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper) and preferred
stock rated by MJKK or MSFJ (as applicable) have, prior to assignment of any rating, agreed to pay to MJKK or MSFJ (as applicable) for ratings opinions and services rendered by it fees
ranging from JPY125,000 to approximately JPY250,000,000.

MJKK and MSFJ also maintain policies and procedures to address Japanese regulatory requirements.

REPORT NUMBER 1178482

5          3 June 2019 St. Olaf College, MN: Update to credit analysis

http://www.moodys.com


MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE U.S. PUBLIC FINANCE

CLIENT SERVICES

Americas 1-212-553-1653

Asia Pacific 852-3551-3077

Japan 81-3-5408-4100

EMEA 44-20-7772-5454

6          3 June 2019 St. Olaf College, MN: Update to credit analysis



MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO: Barry W. Fick 

Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority 

FROM: Fryberger, Buchanan, Smith & Frederick, P.A. 

DATE: November 9, 2020 

RE: Application of St. Olaf College for MHEFA Financing 

 
We have reviewed the Application of St. Olaf College (the “College”), dated March 17, 

2020, as amended in October, 2020, and found it to be complete and satisfactory from a legal 
standpoint, subject to the following: 

1. Purpose. The Application relates to financing the costs of the acquisition, 
construction, equipping and furnishing of a new student housing project consisting of a 300-bed 
residence hall and 14 new townhouses, each townhouse containing 10 beds (the “Project”). (The 
project facilities described in the Project are collectively referred to as the “Project Facilities.”) 
The Project Facilities are owned and operated by the College and located on the Institution’s 
campus, the principal street address of which is 1520 St. Olaf Avenue, Northfield, Minnesota. 

2. Incomplete Items. The following items required by the Application are missing or 
incomplete: 

A. Evidence of Title. No title insurance commitment or title opinion was 
provided. The College should provide recent title evidence in the form of a title 
commitment or attorney’s title opinion prior to the bond closing, showing that the 
College has title (or other suitable interest) in the land necessary for the Project and the 
Project Facilities. 

B. Survey. The College will need to provide a survey or site diagram 
identifying the Project Facilities and legal descriptions on which the Project Facilities are 
located. 

C. Building Permits and Other Governmental Approvals. The College has 
indicated in the Application that a zoning change is needed for the student housing 
project. An environmental worksheet and environmental impact statement are pending 
for the student housing project. We will confer with the College and its counsel to 
confirm that required governmental approvals for the Project are obtained. 

D. Financial Covenants. The Authority’s Series Eight-G Bonds and Series 
Eight-N Bonds contain financial covenant tests regarding the College’s authority to incur 
additional funded debt which must be reviewed taking into account the debt service 
schedule for the proposed revenue obligations. The Application, in Exhibit 4, addresses 
such covenants.  Prior to issuance of the proposed revenue obligations, the College and 



2 

its accountants and counsel should reexamine the financial covenants and the proposed 
debt service on the proposed revenue obligations to demonstrate compliance with such 
covenants. 

E. Prior Pledge of Certain Moneys. The notes to the financial statements 
indicate that the College has an unsecured bank line of credit which may contain certain 
financial covenants. The College should provide a copy of such loan documents to 
determine if there are restrictions on additional funded debt or a pledge of College assets. 

3. $150 Million Limit on Tax-Exempt Non-Hospital Bonds Under Section 145(b) of 
Internal Revenue Code. In the Application, the College has stated that the College receives an 
annual allocation (about $32,000) from the Evangelical Lutheran Church in American (“ELCA”) 
Foundation. The By-laws of the College provide that (i) the Board of Regents must maintain a 
composition in which a majority of Regents are members of the ELCA or another denomination 
with which the ELCA or its successors has established full communion, and at least 40% shall be 
members of the ELCA; and (ii) at least one member of the Board of Regents shall be a bishop of 
the ELCA or a person who is widely recognized as a thought or practice leader of the ELCA. 

These facts would be significant due to the limitation set forth in Internal Revenue Code 
Section 145(b) prior to 1997, of the aggregate amount of outstanding qualified 501(c)(3) non-
hospital bonds from which any 501(c)(3) organization may benefit to $150 million. For purposes 
of this rule, two or more organizations under common management or control are treated as one 
organization. 

The 1997 amendment to Section 145(b) excludes from the $150 million limit tax-exempt 
non-hospital bonds issued after August 5, 1997, as part of an issue 95% or more of the net 
proceeds of which (including issuance costs) are to be used to finance capital expenditures 
incurred after that date. The proposed bonds will finance capital expenditures originally incurred 
after August 5, 1997. The proposed bonds will therefore not be subject to the $150 million 
aggregate limit. 

It appears that the College and the ELCA are not under common control and 
management, but we will verify such determination with the College and its attorney, and we 
will verify that no other organizations are controlling, controlled by or under common 
management or control with the College. 

4. Establishment of Religion. We have reviewed the legal analysis provided to the 
Authority by bond counsel of prior bond issues and do not disagree with their conclusion that the 
College is sufficiently nonsectarian to avoid Establishment of Religion problems, despite the link 
between the College’s governing body and the ELCA. 

A description of the relationship between the College and the ELCA is set forth above. 

The Application materials contain a number of statements in support of a conclusion that 
the College is not a sectarian institution. In particular, the relevant organizational documents, 
general statements contained in official College publications, admissions standards, and faculty 
hiring and tenure requirements support the conclusion that the College does in fact follow 
academic freedom in the classroom and non-discrimination practices in faculty and student 



3 

recruitment, retention and promotion. Under the Supreme Court’s guidelines as established by 
the relevant decisions, the focus on actual practices is as important as the focus on institutional 
documents. Therefore, the members of the Authority should themselves be satisfied that the 
College does in fact follow academic freedom in the classroom and non-discrimination practices 
in faculty and student recruitment, retention and promotion. 

On these facts, and under existing judicial interpretation of the Establishment of Religion 
Clause, we conclude that the Project as proposed by the College violates no Constitutional 
limitation. 

We note that the most recent United States Supreme Court decision in this area, while not 
directly on point, does appear to broaden the permitted scope of public assistance to religious-
affiliated educational institutions. Financing such as that provided by the Authority falls well 
within the permitted limits. 

5. Rebate, Two-Year, 18-Month and Six-Month Spend-Down Exceptions. The 
requirements to pay arbitrage rebate for the proposed revenue obligations have three exceptions 
which are related to the speed in which the proceeds of the proposed revenue obligations are 
spent. 

The exceptions potentially available for the Project are the 18-month exception and the 
24-month exception. Under the 24-month exception, the proceeds of the revenue obligations 
must be expended within 24 months as determined at the time of closing. The cost of equipment 
included for the Project may not exceed 25% of the proceeds. If equipment will constitute more 
than 25% of the proceeds (and if the six or 18-month exceptions are not applicable), another 
category of proceeds can be established which should include proceeds to be spent on equipment 
within six months of the closing date. Depending on the draw schedule for the Project, the 18-
month exception may also be available. 

Bond counsel and the municipal advisor will work with the College regarding the timing 
of the proposed revenue obligations and the construction schedules for each element of the 
Project to determine which exception, if any, will be possible. 

You should note that the proposed revenue obligations are not expected to be secured by 
a reserve fund, but if a reserve fund is required, such reserve fund will be subject to rebate. 

The following is a summary of each exception: 

a. The Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1989 (the “1989 Act”), as amended by 
a technical corrections act in 1990, created a two-year exception (the “two year spend-
down exception”) from the requirement to pay arbitrage rebate for governmental and 
501(c)(3) bonds which meet the definition of a “construction issue” – that is, a bond issue 
for which at least 75% of net proceeds will be expended for “construction expenditures.” 
“Construction expenditures” are costs of construction chargeable to the capital account 
(other than expenditures for land or existing real property). Construction expenditures 
include costs of fixtures such as heating, ventilating and air conditioning and costs of 
equipment depreciated over a period of a year. To comply with this exception, all 
available construction proceeds of the issue must be spent within two years from the date 



4 

of closing on the bond issue: 10% within six months, 45% within one year, 75% within 
18 months, and 95% to 100% within two years with an extension to three years for up to 
five percent retained from contractors. For the purposes of the proposed revenue 
obligations, “available construction proceeds” which must be spent on schedule generally 
includes investment earnings, but excludes the amounts used to fund a reserve fund and 
issuance costs. Investment earnings on the reserve fund during the construction period 
must be spent on schedule for project costs, including interest but not principal on the 
revenue obligations or, if the College so elects, must be rebated. Rebate would still be 
payable on reserve fund investment (to the extent the yield of the investments exceeds the 
bond yield) after the construction period, but the two year spend-down exception offers 
potential significant savings. 

b. The 1989 Act also created an exception for proceeds (whether for 
refunding, equipment or construction) which is spent in six months. 

c. Under Treasury Department Regulations, a third exception was created for 
proceeds, including reasonably expected investment earnings as determined at closing, 
which are spent within 18 months (six months – 15%, 12 months – 60% and 18 months – 
100%), except for a de minimis amount or a reasonable retainage which must be spent 
within 30 months of the bond closing date. This exception is not limited to construction 
purposes. 

6. Reimbursement Regulations. The College has indicated in its Application that the 
work on the Project is to begin in February 2021; consequently, the proposed revenue obligations 
may be issued after the start of construction. The Internal Revenue Service has adopted 
regulations providing rules for determining when an issuer may use bond proceeds to reimburse 
expenditures made before the revenue obligations are issued. The College can be reimbursed for 
expenditures paid for the Project (as opposed to incurred but not paid) up to 60 days prior to the 
bond closing, or an earlier declaration of official intent, if applicable. The reimbursement 
resolution attached to the Application as Exhibit 11 provides a declaration of official intent to 
finance the Project on October 11, 2019. In addition, the College may be reimbursed for certain 
preliminary expenditures and amounts considered to be de minimis. We will work with the 
College to identify reimbursable costs and to protect the College’s ability to finance expenditures 
made before the revenue obligations are issued. 

The College must use proceeds from a bond issue to reimburse itself for prior 
expenditures within 18 months from the later of (i) the date that the original expenditure is paid 
or (ii) the date that an element of the Project is placed in service (but in no event more than three 
years after the original expenditure is paid). “Placed in service” means the date on which the 
Project or facility has reached a degree of completion which would permit its operation at 
substantially its design level and is in operation at such level. The College should expect to be 
reimbursed from bond proceeds shortly after the closing. 

7. Construction Contract. At the time of bond closing, the College must be in a 
position to commit to construct the Project and to provide a reliable cost estimate or a fixed price 
or guaranteed maximum price contracts. The Application indicates that construction contracts for 
all or a portion of the Project have been awarded. 



5 

8. Use of Project Facilities by Business Enterprises. If the College has or will have a 
contract with a for-profit private enterprise to provide services in any of the financed facilities, 
we will need to review the use and/or contract to ensure compliance with guidelines relating to 
private use established in the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations and in Revenue 
Procedures 2001-39, 2007-47 and 2016-44 (together, “Private Use Rules”). The College has not 
described any such activity to be carried on in a financed facility, but we think some further 
inquiry would be prudent to determine whether there is any “private use.” Discovery of “private 
use” may necessitate that the College use its own funds to finance the private use facility (and 
allocated common areas) and to follow the guidelines in the Private Use Rules to preserve tax-
exempt financing for the rest of the financed facilities. 

Section 145(a) of the Internal Revenue Code provides that no more than five percent of 
the net proceeds of an issue may be used by any person other than a 501(c)(3) organization or 
governmental unit, or in a trade or business unrelated to the exempt purposes of the College. 
Even if a service or other management contract, or use of parking or other proposed facilities, 
does not generate unrelated business income for the College, such agreements may constitute 
“use” of facilities of the College by a private (and nonexempt) entity which could render the 
bonds used to finance the facilities taxable. The Private Use Rules are lengthy and complex and 
will require careful review and application. The Private Use Rules require that the costs of 
issuance (a maximum of two percent payable from bond proceeds) to be counted against the five 
percent limit of private use, leaving only three percent available for other private use. 

Subject to certain restrictions, the Private Use Rules would permit parts of the Project 
Facilities which are “used” by a private entity to be financed by tax-exempt bonds. We will need 
to examine the intended “use” of the Project Facilities to determine the applicable restrictions. 

Any change in use or ownership of the Project Facilities or any portion thereof should be 
undertaken only with advice of bond counsel and, in some cases, advance arrangement of 
“remedial action” under Treasury Regulations Section 1.141-12. 

9. Litigation. The College has indicated there is no pending litigation that is 
uninsured and would have a material adverse financial impact if resolved against the College. If 
there is any change in the status of these matters, or if other litigation or claims, threatened or 
pending, should arise prior to closing, the College should promptly notify the Authority, the 
municipal advisor and bond counsel and provide a description of such litigation. 

10. Sinking Fund Proceeds; Replacement Proceeds. The Application states that the 
funds to pay debt service on the proposed revenue obligations will be derived from the College’s 
general operations, increase in revenues from students living in College owned housing, and 
change of unrestricted endowments from reinvesting to spending. While this financing structure 
is similar to other recent Authority financings and does not appear to raise “sinking fund” 
concerns, it will nonetheless be necessary to analyze whether any such change in unrestricted 
endowments are subject to rebate or yield limitations under Section 148 of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

The notes to the College’s financial statements indicate that the College, as of May 31, 
2020, had substantial unrestricted assets, temporarily-restricted assets and restricted assets 



6 

available for various purposes. The arbitrage regulations adopted by the Internal Revenue 
Service impose limits on the yield on investments of “gross proceeds” of tax-exempt bonds. 
“Gross proceeds” include not only the actual proceeds received from the issuance and sale of 
bonds but also other monies characterized as “replacement proceeds.” Amounts are “replacement 
proceeds” under the regulations if it is concluded that such amounts would have been used for 
the governmental purposes for which the bonds were issued (here, the Project) had proceeds of 
the revenue obligations not been used for that governmental purpose. Amounts also may be 
replacement proceeds if they are held or expected to be used to pay debt service on revenue 
obligations, such as restricted gifts or pledges for the Project. The mere availability or 
preliminary earmarking of funds for such purposes does not, in itself, necessarily lead to the 
conclusion that such funds would have been used for the governmental purpose of the bonds and 
thus are replacement proceeds. We will confer with the College and its counsel to confirm 
compliance with the replacement proceeds rules including fundraising for the Project and 
endowment funds. 

M:\DOCS\15003\000040\MEM\18J4031.DOCX 



RESOLUTION RELATING TO APPLICATION FOR 
ST. OLAF COLLEGE 

 
Be It Resolved by the Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority as follows: 

1. The Authority acknowledges receipt of the Application, dated March 17, 2020, as 
amended in October, 2020, of St. Olaf College, a Minnesota nonprofit corporation (the 
“College”), as owner and operator of St. Olaf College (the “Institution”) and exhibits thereto, 
including an Indemnity Agreement and an application fee in the amount of $1,000 (the 
“Application”), for a proposal relating to financing the costs of the acquisition, construction, 
equipping and furnishing of a new student housing project consisting of a 300-bed residence hall 
and 14 new townhouses, each townhouse containing 10 beds (the “Project”). (The project 
facilities described in the Project are collectively referred to as the “Project Facilities.”) The 
Project Facilities will be owned and operated by the College and located at its campus, the 
principal street address of which is 1520 St. Olaf Avenue, Northfield, Minnesota. 

2. The Executive Director, in consultation with the Chair of the Authority, has 
selected a date for a public hearing to be held with respect to the Application in conjunction with 
a meeting of the Authority and has caused notice of the public hearing to be published at least 14 
days prior to the date of the hearing in each of two publications, namely, the State Register and a 
newspaper of general circulation available to residents of the locality where the Project Facilities 
are located. 

3. As required by Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code, this Authority 
conducted a public hearing on November 18, 2020, on the proposal to finance the Project, at 
which public hearing all parties who appeared in person, by telephone or who submitted written 
comments were given an opportunity to express their views with respect to the proposal. 

4. Officers of the College have presented to this Authority information concerning 
the Project, the feasibility of the Project, the financing schedule for the Project and responded to 
other matters concerning the Project, the Institution and the College. 

5. The Executive Director of the Authority, Fryberger, Buchanan, Smith & 
Frederick, P.A., Bond Counsel, and North Slope Capital Advisors, Inc., Municipal Advisor to the 
Authority, have reviewed the Application and the exhibits thereto, and recommend that the 
Authority approve the Application as submitted, subject to the conditions herein set forth. 

6. On the basis of the information contained in the Application and its exhibits and 
presented orally to the Authority, its Executive Director, Bond Counsel and Municipal Advisor, 
and on the basis of the recommendations made, the Authority hereby finds and determines that: 

(a) The College is a nonprofit corporation and the Institution is an institution 
of higher education in the state, eligible to be a participating institution of higher 
education under Sections 136A.25 to 136A.42, Minnesota Statutes, as amended (the 
“Act”). 

(b) The Project as described in the Application is eligible for financing by the 
Authority and is a “project” under the Act. 



2 

(c) The Project Facilities are intended for and will provide for additional 
educational opportunity to the current and future generations of youth of the state in 
nonprofit institutions of higher education and will otherwise carry out the purposes and 
policies of the Act. 

(d) The Institution is nonsectarian and does not require or forbid attendance 
by students or any other persons at religious worship or acceptance of any religious creed 
and does not promulgate the distinctive doctrines, creeds or tenets of any particular 
religious sect and all courses of study, including any religion and theology courses, are 
taught according to the academic requirements of the subject matter and the instructor’s 
concept of professional standards. 

(e) The Institution admits students without unlawful discrimination, and does 
not exclude, expel, limit or otherwise unlawfully discriminate against enrolled students, 
in accordance with Minnesota Statutes, Section 363A.13. 

(f) The Project Facilities are available to the students of the Institution 
without unlawful discrimination, in accordance with Minnesota Statutes, 
Section 363A.13. 

(g) Issuance of the revenue obligations by the Authority will not have the 
primary purpose or effect of advancing religion or interfering with the free exercise of 
religion and will not provide financing for a facility used or to be used for sectarian 
instruction or as a place of religious worship or a facility which is used or to be used 
primarily in connection with any part of the program of a school or department of 
divinity for any religious denomination. 

(h) The Project and issuance of revenue obligations appear feasible. 

7. The Project and the issuance of revenue obligations of the Authority in the 
maximum aggregate principal amount of $71,000,000 are therefore approved, provided that the 
College shall furnish any items which are needed to complete the Application or which are 
reasonably required by Bond Counsel in order to deliver an unqualified opinion as to the validity 
of the revenue obligations and tax status of the interest on the revenue bonds. 

8. The Executive Director shall direct Bond Counsel and Municipal Advisor to the 
Authority to prepare and submit recommendations as to the terms of financing and the forms of 
the financing documents, including, if necessary, a loan agreement and a trust indenture, or a 
loan and note purchase agreement, bond purchase agreement or a note placement agreement or 
similar agreement, a mortgage, if any, an official statement or a private placement memorandum, 
if any, and related documents and resolutions to the Authority and to the College for 
consideration and approval. 

9. The Authority and the College each respectively reserves its right to terminate the 
Project or any of them and the financing thereof under the Act as provided in the Indemnity 
Agreement. 



3 

Adopted: November 18, 2020. 

MINNESOTA HIGHER EDUCATION 
FACILITIES AUTHORITY 
 
 
By   

Michael D. Ranum, Chair 
 
 
By   

Gary D. Benson, Secretary 
 
 
 
Approved: ______________________________ 
  Governor, State of Minnesota 
 
 
Date Approved: __________________________ 
 
 
 
M:\docs\15003\000040\ROL\18J4012.DOCX 



���������� ���	

��������������	��	�����������
��	��������	�����������

������������	��	�����������


� �!��"""��� �������"�����	

��������������	��	������� ��
��	��������	�����������

���������#����$%��%�&'�����(��&���%)�*����**��'&���+����$,(����''�,&�%��&���%)�*����**��'&���- ��)

./01/23/4�56/748992/71�.:4;/.�<1�=87=84>?<�.1@�0<:9�A84�7?71B=87./=:1?C/�A<99�./2/.1/4./<4=B
2/7:



���������� ���	

��������������	��	�����������
��	��������	�����������

������������	��	�����������


� �!��"""��� �������"�����	

��������������	��	������� ��
��	��������	�����������

���������#����$%��%�&'�����(��&���%)�*����**��'&���+����$,(����''�,&�%��&���%)�*����**��'&���- ��)
����&		. /"��� 0	��

123456
7289



���������� ���	

��������������	��	�����������
��	��������	�����������

������������	��	�����������


� �!��"""��� �������"�����	

��������������	��	������� ��
��	��������	�����������

���������#����$%��%�&'�����(��&���%)�*����**��'&���+����$,(����''�,&�%��&���%)�*����**��'&���- '�)

./0123
4/56



���������� ���	

��������������	��	�����������
��	��������	�����������

������������	��	�����������


� �!��"""��� �������"�����	

��������������	��	������� ��
��	��������	�����������

���������#����$%��%�&'�����(��&���%)�*����**��'&���+����$,(����''�,&�%��&���%)�*����**��'&���- ,�)

./0123
4/56



���������� ���	

��������������	��	�����������
��	��������	�����������

������������	��	�����������


� �!��"""��� �������"�����	

��������������	��	������� ��
��	��������	�����������

���������#����$%��%�&'�����(��&���%)�*����**��'&���+����$,(����''�,&�%��&���%)�*����**��'&���- *�)
. / 0 1 2

345678
94:;



���������� ���	

��������������	��	�����������
��	��������	�����������

������������	��	�����������


� �!��"""��� �������"�����	

��������������	��	������� ��
��	��������	�����������

���������#����$%��%�&'�����(��&���%)�*����**��'&���+����$,(����''�,&�%��&���%)�*����**��'&���- )�)

./0123



EXEC. DIR. REPORT   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
Date:  18 November 2020 
 
To:  Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority Board Members 
 
From:  Barry W. Fick, Executive Director 
 
Subject: November 2020 - Authority Board Meeting Executive Director’s Report 
 
We continue to function in accord with State of Minnesota “if you can work from home you must 
work from home” mandate. We make separate occasional visits to the office, including for the 
October and November 2020 Board Meetings. This meeting is being conducted using the new video 
platform that is integrated with our new communications system. It uses a new dedicated toll-free 
meeting participation number. We would appreciate your feedback on how the Zoom access works 
for you and we encourage you to share your thoughts and observations about the meeting format 
with us so we can improve future meetings. 
 
Our new laptop computers have been ordered and we expect to receive them prior to the Authority 
November meeting. We were able to find the same brand of computers with more features and 
capacity at a materially lower price than quoted to us by DTS. The new computers will allow us to be 
well equipped for the future, especially as we anticipate continuing to work from home through June 
30, 2021 as mandated by the State of Minnesota. 
 
Moody’s completed a number of credit reviews of Authority borrowers. We had a rating call on 
November 10 for Macalester. We expect Moody’s to have a credit committee and decision on 
Macalester’s Credit Update by the first week of December. 
 
I have been appointed to the GFOA working group London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) 
Transition Sub-committee and the Environmental, Social and Government (“ESG”) working Group 
sub-committee. My participation on these sub-committees will directly benefit a number of 
Authority school borrowers, especially as it relates to ESG disclosure matters for future financings. 

380 JACKSON STREET, SUITE 450, ST. PAUL, MN  55101 

Main Phone: 651.296.4690       Fax: 651.297.5751 



EXEC. DIR. REPORT   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
I will be applying for reappointment to the MSRB Compliance Advisory Group. Appointments to 
MSRB Committees are for a 1-year term. Since the work of the CAG Group was interrupted by 
COVID during 2020, I would like to continue the work the Group began and bring some of the 
initiatives to a successful conclusion in 2021. 







November 11, 2020

Please Remember in Your Prayers Professor Emeritus
Michael Sullivan

news.stthomas.edu/please-remember-in-your-prayers-professor-emeritus-michael-sullivan/

Please remember in your prayers Professor Emeritus Michael Sullivan, who died Nov. 7.
Sullivan served as the chief financial officer, chief investment officer, and treasurer of the
university from 1985-2010, transitioning to the Finance Department of the Opus College of
Business and teaching there until 2015, when he retired as professor emeritus.

A virtual wake will be held over Zoom on Sunday at 2 p.m. Please note that a previously
scheduled funeral Mass at St. Thomas had to be canceled due to the pandemic. In lieu of
flowers, donations in remembrance of Sullivan can be made to South Boston
Neighborhood House or Mary’s Place.

“Michael was a great asset to the university. He was a very astute chief investment officer,
and he was an invaluable chief financial officer,” President Emeritus Father Dennis Dease
said. “He was very talented, very smart, very quick and a very decent man. We will
certainly miss him.”

1/3

https://news.stthomas.edu/please-remember-in-your-prayers-professor-emeritus-michael-sullivan/
https://sbnh.org/
https://sharingandcaringhands.org/marys-place


(left to right) Michael and Lori Sullivan with Susan Marsnik at the International Education 25th
anniversary reunion dinner held on Sept. 27, 2008.

Sullivan was preceded in death by his parents, Michael and Mary, and siblings Suzy and
Dennis. He is survived by his siblings Tim, Mary and John; wife, Lori; children, Michael
and Chelsea; grandchildren, Rivka and Ariel; and devoted dog, Pippa.

‘Positive written comments from students could fill several books’

In the 2014 letter conferring professor emeritus status upon Sullivan, President Julie
Sullivan (no relation) wrote, “While emeritus status need not necessarily gauge a
professor’s popularity, yours recognizes the large measure of personal friendship,
tremendous respect and sincere gratitude you have earned among students, staff and
faculty alike.”

He taught more than 107 sections of graduate courses as well as 233 sessions of noncredit
courses in executive education and certificate programs. Sullivan served as a visiting
professor throughout the United States as well as in Russia, Italy, Germany, the United
Kingdom, France, Denmark, Ireland, Greece, Czech Republic, Taiwan, China, Hong Kong,
Canada and the Cayman Islands.

Sullivan served for five years as concentration director, five more as adjunct coordinator
and as a committee member and committee chair for the Department of Finance. He
served on a variety of committees for the Opus College of Business and for the university at

2/3



large. He also was an active member of the Financial Management Association, the
Financial Executive Institute and the National Association of College and University
Business Officers.

Colleagues recognized his long and distinguished career as “an innovative, thoughtful
teacher who understands the needs of his students” whose “service to the university, the
college and the community is generous and widespread.” They also said, “The positive
written comments from students could fill several books.”

His efforts led to the St. Thomas recycling program and the university’s first forays into
what was then called “office automation.”

Sullivan served on the board of several nonprofits and spent many years working as an
investment consultant for organizations and individuals.

He earned his Bachelor of Arts degree in 1974 from Saint John’s University. Sullivan
earned his doctorate in school business management from the University of Minnesota in
1982 and also taught at St. Cloud State University.

Read his obituary online.

3/3

https://www.startribune.com/obituaries/detail/0000373789/





	Mailout List
	Forwarding Memo
	Agenda
	Minutes of October 21, 2020
	St. Olaf Presentation
	Application Review - North Slope
	Application Memorandum - Fryberger
	Resolution - Fryberger
	Enrollment Surges at Concordia St. Paul for Ninth Consective Fall Semester
	Executive Director Report Memo
	Dr. Michael Francis 'Sully' Sullivan Obituary - Star Tribune
	Please Remember in Your Prayers Professor Emeritus
Michael Sullivan - University of St. Thomas
	October 2020 Budget vs Actual



